
City Council Development Committee – April 13, 2021   Page 1 of 2 

 

 

CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE 

CITY COUNCIL DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 

CITY HALL, CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS, 300 W. MAIN STREET 

TUESDAY, APRIL 13, 2021 AT 6:15 PM 

AGENDA 

The meeting will be held at City Hall Council Chambers, 300 W. Main St, Grand Prairie, Texas.  Some 

or all of the committee members may participate remotely via video conference. 

CALL TO ORDER 

AGENDA ITEMS 

1. Approval of Minutes of the March 9, 2021 City Council Development meeting 

2. Discuss proposed amendment to Article 6: Density and Dimensional Requirements, Article 10: 

Parking and Loading Standards, and Appendix W: Residential Development Standards of the 

Unified Development Code to cleanup formatting, duplicate sections, and conflicting language 

3. Discuss proposed amendment to Article 4: Permissible Uses (Use Chart) of the Unified 

Development Code to add the use classification Convenience Store 

4. Discuss proposed amendment to Appendix W: Residential Development Standards of the 

Unified Development Code to make minimum lot requirement to establish a Public 

Improvement District consistent with the existing PID ordinance 

CITIZEN COMMENTS 

Citizens may speak during Citizen Comments for up to five minutes on any item not on the agenda by 

completing and submitting a speaker card. 

EXECUTIVE SESSION 

The City Council Development Committee may conduct a closed session pursuant to Chapter 551, 

Subchapter D of the Government Code, V.T.C.A., to discuss any of the following: 

(1)        Section 551.071 “Consultation with Attorney” - Alcohol Regulations 

(2)        Section 551.072 “Deliberation Regarding Real Property” 

(3)        Section 551.074 “Personnel Matters” 

(4)        Section 551.087 “Deliberations Regarding Economic Development Negotiations.”  

ADJOURNMENT 

The Grand Prairie City Hall is accessible to people with disabilities. If you need assistance in 

participating in this meeting due to a disability as defined under the ADA, please call 972-237-8035 or 

email Gloria Colvin (gcolvin@gptx.org) at least three (3) business days prior to the scheduled meeting to 

request an accommodation. 

1



City Council Development Committee – April 13, 2021   Page 2 of 2 

Certification 

In accordance with Chapter 551, Subchapter C of the Government Code, V.T.C.A, the City Council 

Development Committee agenda was prepared and posted April 9, 2021. 

 

Gloria Colvin, Deputy City Secretary 

 

 

2



Page 1 of 1 

 

 
CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE 

COMMUNICATION 

 

 

MEETING DATE: 04/13/2021 

REQUESTER: Monica Espinoza, Executive Assistant 

PRESENTER: Jeff Wooldridge, Chairman  

TITLE: Approval of Minutes of the March 9, 2021 City Council Development 

meeting 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3

Item 1.



 

 

 

1 

 

 

 

   

 

City Council Development Committee 

Regular Meeting Minutes 

March 9, 2021 

Council Briefing Room 

300 West Main Street 

Grand Prairie, Texas 

 

 

Committee Members Present  Committee Members Absent 
Chairman Jeff Wooldridge      

Councilman Mike Del Bosque  

Councilman John Lopez 

 

Staff Members Present   
Bill Hills, Deputy City 

Manager 

Rashad Jackson, Planning 

Director 

Savannah Ware, Chief City 

Planner 

Steve Collins, Code 

Enforcement Manager 

Mark Dempsey, Deputy City 

Attorney 

Desiree Powell, Planning 

Technician 

 

 

Chairman Jeff Wooldridge called a regular meeting of the City Council Development Committee to order 

at 6:31 p.m. 

 

1. Approval of minutes of the January 12, 2021 City Council Development meeting. 

Minutes approved; 3-0. 

4

Item 1.



2 

 

 

 

 

2.  Approval of minutes of the February 8, 2021 City Council Development meeting. 

Minutes approved; 3-0. 

 

 

3.   Review and amend 2021 City Council Development Committee Meeting Schedule. 

 

Deputy City Manager, Bill Hills, presented this item to amend the current City Council Development 

Committee (CCDC) meetings due to date overlaps with Planning & Zoning (P&Z) Commission meetings. 

He stated that the current schedule has CCDC meetings at the same time as P&Z which causes conflict for 

Planning staff who must attend both meetings. He recommended the Tuesday prior to the second City 

Council meeting. 

 

Recommend approval of amended CCDC meeting schedule; 3-0. 

 

4.  Discuss sign regulations for balloons, inflatable devices, or inflatable characters. 

 

Savannah Ware, Chief City Planner, presented this item. She stated that the number of balloon inflatables 

and temporary signs have increased which has created questions and confusion when issuing sign permits. 

She noted that this item is presented to look at refining the regulations, enforcement, and understanding of 

the sign ordinance amongst Planning, Building Inspections, and Code Enforcement. She added that the 

item was brought to the City Council Development Committee (CCDC) for input regarding best practices 

towards better enforcement and regulation. Additionally, she stated the implementation of the new 

software technology presents opportunities for better coordination amongst the impacted divisions, as well 

as, implementing a label program which would permits easier to identify, and looking to make the Unified 

Development Code (UDC) easier to understand and enforce. 

 

Chairman Woolridge asked if other cities ban these signs outright. Ms. Ware stated she would have to 

research what other cities do. 

 

Chairman Del Bosque asked what’s the bottom line issue with the signage, balloons, and inflatables. Ms. 

Ware stated it was brought about by the mayor as he noticed a lot of them in the city. Chairman Del 

Bosque followed up and asked if people were complying with the permit or did people just not like the type 

of signs. 

 

Steve Collins noted a lot of business owners don’t get the permit or have the temporary signs up beyond 

the time limit of the permit. He added that there are issues with business owners understanding the permit 

expiration date and miscommunication internally. 

 

Chairman Del Bosque added that there is confusion with the language of the permits for business owners. 

Chairman Lopez asked where owners are coming up with the extended timeframe to have the temporary 

signs.  

 

5

Item 1.



3 

 

 

 

Rashad Jackson mentioned that there does need to be a clarification on the terms of the permit, the 

expiration date, and the use of the permit. 

 

Chairman Woolridge asked if the stated ten days are calendar days or working/business days. Ms. Ware 

concluded that is another gray area in the language and wording of the ordinance. 

 

Chairman Del Bosque concluded that it’s a matter of educating business owners/applicants about the 

permit wording and the permit itself. Ms. Ware added that when EnerGov comes online it will be a good 

way to connect all the departments and help each other communicate on making the permit process easier. 

 

 

The meeting was adjourned at 6:53 p.m. 

 

 

________________________________________ 

Chairman Jeff Wooldridge  

6

Item 1.



Page 1 of 2 

 

 
CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE 

COMMUNICATION 

 

 

MEETING DATE: 04/13/2021 

REQUESTER: Jonathan Tooley, Planner 

PRESENTER: Savannah Ware, Chief City Planner, AICP 

TITLE: Discuss proposed amendment to Article 6: Density and Dimensional 

Requirements, Article 10: Parking and Loading Standards, and 

Appendix W: Residential Development Standards of the Unified 

Development Code to cleanup formatting, duplicate sections, and 

conflicting language 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approve 

  

ANALYSIS: 

This proposed amendment will solve issues in Articles 6 & 10, and Appendix W in the Unified 

Development Code (UDC). There are formatting inconsistencies, duplicate sections between Appendix 

W and Article 6 & 10 of UDC, and errors in referencing other Articles. The purpose of this amendment 

is not to necessarily add new language to the UDC, but to “cleanup” existing language for ease of 

staff/citizen review and to mitigate potential interpretation issues.  

As the UDC is amended over time, the document is suspectable to errors in formatting, or conflicting 

language between duplicate sections in Articles when they are not updated concurrently. This 

amendment is the first step in cleaning up these inconsistencies and providing the correct information. 

Staff has consolidated information into the appropriate sections and provided reference points 

throughout the UDC to point reviewers to the correct corresponding section. During staff’s review, if 

there was conflicting language between two sections, the most currently updated section remained, and 

the older section was stricken out for removal. It is best practice not to have duplicate sections 

throughout code as this leads to potential issues of sections not getting updated concurrently, and subject 

to interpretation difficulties. Staff sees this amendment a first in a series of cleanup amendments to the 

UDC. 

Additionally, this amendment will update carport material standards to reflect the requirements of HB 

2439 which prohibits municipalities from regulating building materials. Also, staff is proposing to clean 

up the width requirements for carports which is located Article 6. Currently the standard states that 

carports can either be a maximum of 26 feet or 30 percent of the width of the home. As written, the 

provision is vague and not easily enforceable due to poor wording. As such, staff only enforces the 26-

foot requirement. Staff is proposing to eliminate the 30 percent width requirement, and only having the 

straight 26 ft width requirement. Should the 30 percent requirement be written to make it enforceable, 

this will potentially have adverse effects on staff workload, leading to a sharp increase in Zoning Board 

7

Item 2.



Page 2 of 2 

of Adjustment and Appeals cases. Staff conducted a brief review of other cities and most cities do not 

have width requirements, but only size limitations. Grand Prairie has both, so staff is not concerned in 

the updating of language. This straightforward approach provides ease of review for staff and simplicity 

to citizens who are reviewing City requirements for carports.  

PROPOSED CHANGES: 

 Update and clarify carport width language 

 Update carport materials to reflect HB 2439 

 Remove duplicate sections between Articles, and keep most current language 

 Clean up formatting/referencing 

 Clarify/remove conflicting language  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

8

Item 2.



Page 1 of 1 

 

 
CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE 

COMMUNICATION 

 

 

MEETING DATE: 04/13/2021 

REQUESTER: Rashad Jackson, AICP 

PRESENTER: Rashad Jackson, AICP  

TITLE: Discuss proposed amendment to Article 4: Permissible Uses (Use 

Chart) of the Unified Development Code to add the use classification 

Convenience Store 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approval 

  

ANALYSIS: 

The lack of a specific classification for convenience stores has created some confusion amongst staff 

and existing convenience store business owners on where they stand use wise.  The UDC currently has a 

classification for convenience store with gas but does not include a category for stores without gas.  The 

recent adoption of a variety store classification (for dollar stores) has added to the confusion with the 

lack of a convenience store classification for existing “mom & pop” convenience stores.  The lack of a 

specific classification for these uses has led some business owners (and staff) to believe stand-alone 

convenience stores are to be classified as a variety store (with a 5000’ separation requirement).  It is 

staffs understanding this was not the intent for the variety store amendment. Staff proposes to add a use 

chart classification for convenience stores.   

PROPOSED ZONING REQUIREMENTS: 

 

 

 

 

 

S: Specific Use Permit Required 

The proposed zoning / land use requirements will match what is currently required for convenience 

stores with gas sales.  A Specific Use Permit, designated as “S” in the use chart, will be required for 

approval in the noted zoning districts.  The existing definition for convenience store will be used. 

 

RETAIL AND 

COMMERCIAL USES 

NAICS 

CODE M
U

 

O
F

F
IC

E
 

N
S

 

G
R

 

G
R

-1
 

C
 

C
-1

 

C
A

 

H
C

 

L
I 

H
I 

CONVENIENCE STORE 
See 

Article 30 
   S S S S S S S S 

9

Item 3.



Page 1 of 1 

 

 
CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE 

COMMUNICATION 

 

 

MEETING DATE: 04/13/2021 

REQUESTER: Rashad Jackson, AICP 

PRESENTER: Rashad Jackson, AICP  

TITLE: Discuss proposed amendment to Appendix W: Residential 

Development Standards of the Unified Development Code to make 

minimum lot requirement to establish a Public Improvement District 

consistent with the existing PID ordinance 

RECOMMENDED ACTION: Approval / Seeking Direction 

  

ANALYSIS: 

The City of Grand Prairie requires PIDs (Public Improvement Districts) and / or HOAs (Homeowner 

Associations) with the development of residential subdivisions.  The PIDs are designed to help assist 

with the continued maintenance and improvement of public property within these developments.  The 

city has required a PID be established if a certain number of lots are proposed by a development.   

Upon review, staff has noted an inconsistency between the PID policy minimum lot requirement used by 

our PID boards and the Unified Development Code minimum lot requirement.  The PID policy requires 

a minimum of 175 lots for a PID when complete and the UDC requires a minimum of 50 lots or more 

when complete.  In order to avoid confusion and to assist with implementation, staff recommends an 

amendment to the UDC to make it consistent with the PID policy requirement.     

 

CURRENT UDC REQUIREMENT 

A mandatory Homeowner’s association (HOA) and/or a public improvement district (PID), if none 

exists, shall be created to enforce the restrictions contained in the ordinance at the expense of the HOA 

and/or PID. The establishment of a PID, if none exists, shall be mandatory if the Development contains 

more than 50 platted lots or is to be developed over multiple phases.  Documentation establishing such 

PID and/or HOA shall be required at time of final plat review. 

 

CURRENT PID POLICY REQUIRMENT – APPROVED IN 2018 

The City Council must approve all petitions requesting establishment of public improvement districts. To 

establish a new PID, an area must have a minimum of 175 parcels when development is complete; requests 

for smaller PIDs may be considered on a case-by-case basis. Land included in the PID must be contiguous. 

10

Item 4.



1 

CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE 

PUBLIC IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT POLICY 

AS ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL ON JULY 17, 2018 
 

 

I. PURPOSE: 

 

A Public Improvement District (PID) is a tax assessment area established to provide for the 

enhancement of public improvements and services in the area.  Assessments are generally 

based on the appraised values of real property within the area.  A PID can encompass and 

serve both residential and commercial property.  Cities are authorized to create PIDs under 

Chapter 372 of the Texas Local Government Code. 

 

The City of Grand Prairie recognizes that PIDs are valuable tools which developers and 

neighborhoods use to enhance the maintenance of public property beyond the level normally 

provided by the City.  It is the intent of the city to allow direct management control of PID 

operations by advisory bodies consisting of PID property owners.  However, PID bodies 

serve advisory functions, and all final decisions are made by the governing body of the PID, 

the City Council.  Section 372.002 of the Texas Local Government Code, Exercise of 

Powers, states that “Powers granted under this subchapter may be exercised by a 

municipality or county in which the governing body of the municipality or county initiates or 

receives a petition requesting the establishment of a public improvement district.  A petition 

must comply with the requirements of Section 372.005.” 

 

II. PID SERVICES AND IMPROVEMENTS: 

 

A. PID assessments may only be used to serve or improve public property and may not be 

used to benefit or enhance private property.  Listed below are services and 

improvements which Grand Prairie PIDs may provide or maintain.  Other improvements 

allowed by the statute will be reviewed and considered individually by the city. 

 

 Landscaping and irrigation 

 Right-of-way, median, and other open space maintenance, such as residential 

 detention ponds 

 Perimeter fencing 

 Entry features 
1
 

 Fountains 

 Distinctive lighting 

 Distinctive signs 

 Art or decorations 

 Sidewalks 

                                                 
1
 A PID proposing to install any sign or structure in a median must have the plans reviewed by the 

Transportation and Engineering departments, and the City Council must approve the plans before any 

costs are incurred.  In addition to this, the PID President must sign the City’s hold harmless 

agreement. 
 

11

Item 4.



2 

 Parks 

 Special supplemental services for improvement and promotion of the district 

including advertising, promotion, public safety, security, business recruitment, 

development, recreation, and cultural enhancement. 

 Payment of necessary expenses incurred in the establishment, administration, and 

operation of the district. 
 

B. Listed below are services and improvements which Grand Prairie PIDs may not provide 

or maintain: 

 

 Buildings 

 Swimming pools 

 Construction, improvement, or maintenance of privately owned facilities or land 

 including that owned by a Home Owners’ Association (HOA).
 2

 

 Purely social activities 

 Travel expenses 

 In the case of new additions, it is the policy of the city that PID funds will not be 

 utilized for standard construction expenses typically required as part of a subdivision 

 development, including perimeter fencing, right-of-way landscaping, and irrigation 

 systems.  These costs shall be borne by the developer and not funded from PID 

 assessments.  The improvements must, however, be maintained by the PID. 

 Developers will not finance any improvements for PIDs that PIDs are expected to 

 repay. 

 

III.   PID ESTABLISHMENT AND OPERATION:    

 

A. The City Council must approve all petitions requesting establishment of public 

improvement districts.  To establish a new PID, an area must have a minimum of 175 

parcels when development is complete; requests for smaller PIDs may be considered on 

a case-by-case basis.  Land included in the PID must be contiguous.   

 

A PID may be created at any time; however, to be assessed in October following PID 

creation, the required number of petition signatures must be turned in to the City by July 

1st.  State law requires notification to homebuyers before purchasing the property 

acknowledging that they will pay PID assessments with their property taxes. 

 

The key indicator that distinguishes an existing neighborhood or business district 

from a new development is whether the majority of lot ownership is held by the 

developer or by the residents. 

 

 

                                                 
2
 Exception:  PIDs may maintain privately owned property through the use of an easement if 

this serves or improves public property.  An easement is a nonpossessory interest in another's 

land that entitles the holder only to the right to use such land in the specified manner.   
 

12

Item 4.



3 

B. Existing Neighborhood or Existing Business District: 

 

1.  Individuals interested in establishing a PID should determine the support of their 

community and present a petition including a conceptual plan of improvements to the 

City Planning Director which includes at least: 

 

 Proposed district boundaries 

 Estimated costs associated with the improvements and maintenance 

 The general nature of the proposed improvements or maintenance program 

 Consideration of future replacement of capital improvements, i.e. fences 

 Classes of property which will be subject to or exempt from assessment and the 

 proposed method of assessment (i.e., flat rate or % applied to appraised market 

 value) 

 The proposed apportionment of costs between the PID and the municipality as a 

 whole (the transfer) 

 How the PID will be managed 

 A core committee of interested individuals (names, addresses and phone numbers) 

 That the persons signing the petition request or concur with the establishment of 

 the PID 

 

2.  A city task force consisting of representatives from the following departments will 

review the initial submittal:  Planning, Legal Services, Finance, and Parks and 

Recreation.  The Finance Department will take the lead in the review process. 

 

 After initial review, the city task force will determine whether sufficient support and 

documentation has been provided.  If accepted, the PID committee will then prepare 

the final application packet in a format provided by the City. 

 

 The final application packet must include an assessment plan apportioning the cost of 

the improvement plan to be assessed: 

 

a. An estimated assessment rate is applied to the expected appraised value of 

property to sufficiently fund a budget.  The budget should provide adequate funds for 

the following: 

 

o Annual routine maintenance of improvements 

o Reserves to fund long term major maintenance and replacement of 

improvements 

o Associated city out-of-pocket administrative costs 

 

b. Description of procedures for the nomination of an Advisory Board.  The 

Advisory Board will recommend specific improvements, oversee the annual budget 

and long-term plans, and manage related contracts and services. 

 

c. A petition.  The petition is sufficient if signed by: 

 

13

Item 4.



4 

o Owners of taxable real property representing more than 50% of the 

appraised value of taxable real property liable for assessment under the 

proposal, as determined by the current roll of the appraisal district in 

which the property is located; and 

 

o Record owners of real property liable for assessment under the proposal 

who: 

 Constitute more than 50% of all record owners of property that is 

liable for assessment under the proposal; or 

 Own taxable real property that constitutes more than 50% of the 

area of all taxable real property that is liable for assessment under 

the proposal. 

 

d. Other documentation requested by the city. 

3.  PID Relationship to City after PID is created: 

 

Fees and permits:  PIDs are considered governmental units and are required to pay 

the same fees and obtain the same permits as would be required of a department of 

the city.  Those fees and permits not required of city departments are not required of 

the PIDs.  PIDs will pay the city government rate for water utilities and will pay 

through the interdepartmental billing system. 

 

PIDs must pay for: 

 

 Meter fees 

 Tap fees (if the work is done by the city) 

 Collection cost for the PID assessment 

 

PIDs in existing neighborhoods are exempt from: 

 

 City security deposits 

 City impact fees 

 City permit fees (permits, however, are required) 

 City inspection fees (inspections, however, are required) 

 Other City fees 

 

See Exhibit A for details. 

C.  New Development: 

 

1. All new residential developments shall have either a PID or an HOA (or both).  State 

law requires notification to homebuyers before purchasing the property 

acknowledging that they will pay PID assessments with their property taxes.  

Developers interested in establishing a PID should present a petition including a 

conceptual plan of improvements to the city Planning Director before construction 

14

Item 4.



5 

begins.  The PID petition must be submitted for City Council approval before the 

final plat is filed.  The plan must include at least: 

 

 Proposed district boundaries 

 Estimated costs associated with the improvements and maintenance 

 The general nature of the proposed improvements or maintenance program 

 Consideration of future replacement of capital improvements, i.e. fences 

 Classes of property which will be subject to or exempt from assessment  

  and the proposed method of assessment 

 The proposed apportionment of costs between the PID and the   

  municipality as a whole (the transfer) 

 How the PID will be managed 

 An advisory board to develop and recommend an improvement plan to the 

  governing body of the municipality 

 That the persons signing the petition request or concur with the   

  establishment of the PID 

 A plan for turning the PID over to the residents when the developer has 

finished the residential development.  The plan should include an 

approximate date for giving control to the residents and the specific 

triggers for giving control to an advisory body, such as 50% of 

development.  The developer will be responsible for: scheduling a meeting 

with residents; informing the residents of the purpose, date, time, and 

location of the meeting; attending this meeting with the residents; 

explaining how the PID works; helping residents to nominate an advisory 

body; and turning over to the new advisory body a detailed accounting of 

prior expenditures. 

 

2. A city task force consisting of representatives from the following departments will 

review the initial submittal:  Planning, Legal Services, Finance, and Parks and 

Recreation.  The Planning Department will take the lead in the review process, and 

Finance will handle administrative tasks. 

 

 After initial review, the city task force will determine whether sufficient support and 

documentation has been provided.  If accepted, the PID committee will then prepare 

the final application packet in a format provided by the city. 

 

 The final application packet must include an assessment plan apportioning the cost of 

the improvement plan to be assessed: 

 

a. If applicable, a description of the division of PID and HOA responsibilities and 

the relationship between PID fees and HOA dues. 

 

b. An estimated assessment rate is applied to the expected appraised value of 

property to sufficiently fund a budget.  The budget should provide adequate funds 

for the following:  

 

o Annual routine maintenance of improvements 

15

Item 4.



6 

o Reserves to fund long term major maintenance and replacement of 

improvements 

o Associated city out-of-pocket administrative costs 

 

c. Description of procedures for the nomination of an Advisory Body.  The 

Advisory Body will recommend specific improvements, oversee the annual 

budget and long-term plans, and manage related contracts and services. 

 

d. A petition.  The petition must be signed by the landowners and approved by the 

city council before construction begins.  The petition is sufficient is signed by: 

 

o Owners of taxable real property representing more than 50% of the 

appraised value of taxable real property liable for assessment under the 

proposal, as determined by the current roll of the appraisal district in 

which the property is located; and 

 

o Record owners of real property liable for assessment under the proposal 

who: 

 Constitute more than 50% of all record owners of property that is 

liable for assessment under the proposal; or 

 Own taxable real property that constitutes more than 50% of the 

area of all taxable real property that is liable for assessment under 

the proposal. 

 

e. Other documentation requested by the city. 

 

3. PID Relationship to City after PID is created: 

 

Fees and Permits:  Developers forming PIDs for new developments are required to 

pay fees and obtain permits such as: 

 

 Meter fees 

 Tap fees (if the work is done by the city) 

 Security deposits 

 Impact fees 

 Inspection fees  

 Permits as required 

 Other City fees as required 

 

See Exhibit A for details. 

 

D.  Expansion of a PID: 

 

Expansion of an established PID requires that a written petition of the owners of the subject 

property be submitted to the established PID advisory body.  State law requires notification to 

homebuyers before purchasing the property acknowledging that they will pay PID assessments 

with their property taxes.  For an expansion, there is no minimum number of parcels, and land 

annexed into the PID must be contiguous to the existing PID.  The City Council will not 

16

Item 4.



7 

unilaterally take action without first conducting a fiscal impact analysis and obtaining PID 

boards' input.  (Please see section III.A. regarding timing of PID assessments.)  If the subject 

property is contiguous to an existing PID and neither area has outstanding debt, it will be 

annexed into the existing PID after consideration and approval by the City Council.  

 

1. The petition shall include: 

 Formal request to be annexed into PID including petition of property owners 

(meeting Section 372.005 of state statute) if more than a single owner. 

 Fully completed exhibit which contains the name of each parcel owner, the parcel 

legal description (subdivision name, lot, block, etc.) and the tax account number 

for each parcel. 

 Description of property including metes and bounds, name of subdivision or 

property, boundary map, and site plan. 

 Description and scaled site plan of proposed improvements including landscape 

plan, landscape irrigation plan, signage, etc. 

 

2. If the expansion is a new development, the petition shall include: 

 

 Letter of commitment that developer/property owner shall maintain improvements 

for a period of two years after annexation into improvement district. 

 Commitment that developer/property owner shall pay any costs associated with 

annexation. 

 

3. Fees and Permits:  New developments joining existing PIDs are required to pay fees 

and obtain permits such as: 

 

 Meter fees 

 Tap fees (if the work is done by the City) 

 Security deposits 

 Impact fees 

 Inspection fees  

 Permits as required 

 Other City fees as required 

 

See Exhibit A for details. 

 

E. Assessment Rate Increase:   

 

If a PID requests an assessment rate increase, the PID must hold at least one additional 

homeowner meeting within the month before the assessment hearing to announce the 

increase, provide budget information, and answer questions.  The PID may hold 

additional homeowner meetings as needed. 

 

IV. PID STAKEHOLDER GROUPS AND RESPONSIBILITIES:   

 

A. PID stakeholder groups include: 

 

17

Item 4.



8 

 City 

 City Council 

 City staff 

 PID advisory boards 

 PID contractors 

 PID property owners 

 

 

B. PID Advisory Board Responsibilities: 

 

1. Management:  Management of a PID is the responsibility of the PID advisory board.  

If the district fails to appoint an advisory board but wishes to continue the PID 

assessments and maintenance, the city will maintain the district through a contract 

with a property management company with all expenses to be paid from PID 

assessments. 

 

2. Advisory Board Membership:  PID Board members will comply with all laws, 

policies, and procedures set by: 

 

 Chapter 372 of the Texas Local Government Code. 

 The City of Grand Prairie 

 The City of Grand Prairie Code of Ordinances Article 1, Sec. 2.7 - 2.8 

 The Texas Open Meetings Act 

 The City of Grand Prairie Public Improvement District Policy 

 The Bylaws of the Public Improvement District 

 

If any Advisory Board member intentionally violates any of these laws, policies, or 

procedures, the City may remove the member from the Advisory Board and appoint a 

replacement. 

 

3. Meetings:  Each PID is required to hold one homeowner meeting each year in a 

public building.  The City will provide notice of the meeting to all PID property 

owners, and each PID will pay for such notification costs.  The meeting agenda will 

include a presentation of the PID’s plans for the coming year, the PID budget, and 

nomination of advisory board members.  The advisory board may schedule other 

meetings as required and will notify the PID administrator of their time and location 

at least seven business days in advance.  The PID administrator will have the 

meetings posted on the City website; in addition to this, the PID advisory board may 

advertise the meetings. 

 

4. Bylaws:  Each PID must adopt bylaws.  The City will provide a template of bylaws, 

and PID advisory boards may adapt portions of the bylaws as necessary; specifically, 

the board may recommend: 

 

 The number of members, with a minimum of 3 and a maximum of 9 

 The number of regular meetings, with a minimum of one (1) per year. 

18

Item 4.



9 

 The use of geographic divisions to ensure property owner representation from 

various areas of the district, as well as at-large representation.  The use of 

geographic divisions is optional. 

 

The City Attorney will review the bylaws before they are adopted, and the City 

Council will approve the bylaws.  The PID advisory boards may amend the bylaws as 

necessary, and the City Council will approve the amended bylaws. 

 

5. Operations:  Improvements and maintenance authorized by PIDs are supplemental to 

the general operations of the city and shall be paid entirely from district assessments.  

Should the PID advisory board fail to meet its financial obligations, the city shall 

maintain the improvements at PID expense until such time as the improvements are 

paid for or a new advisory board is established. 

  

6. Contracts:  The PID advisory board shall pursue annual contracts for maintenance, 

repair, and construction services where possible.   

 

 Contracts will be negotiated by the PID advisory board. 

 Contracts will be approved by the City Manager, except contracts in excess of the 

dollar threshold at which the City Manager may award City contracts require City 

Council approval.
3
    

 

 The PID advisory board must ensure that its contractors provide appropriate liability 

and other insurance.  All contracts will be reviewed and approved by the City Legal 

department.  Day-to-day responsibilities may be provided by contract management 

paid for from PID assessments. 

 

7. Insurance:  The PID advisory boards will acquire insurance, such coverage to be 

paid for from PID assessments. 

 

PIDs may obtain insurance through the Texas Municipal League (TML) at 

government rates and/or purchase it from a private carrier.  PIDs will pay for 

insurance purchased from TML, and the cost of TML liability insurance will be 

allocated based on PID area maintained or PID budget.  PIDs will pay their own 

deductibles.    

 

a.    General Liability Coverage 

If a PID chooses not to exercise the City's TML coverage for General Liability, the 

PID MUST purchase GL Insurance that provides the following:   

   

      GL 

Min Per Occ  $1,000,000      

Aggregate  $2,000,000      

Deductible  $10,000 or less     

Best Rating  A or better  

                                                 
3
 On October 16, 2007, the dollar threshold at which the City Manager may award contracts increased to 

$50,000. 

19

Item 4.



10 

     

PID GL Includes: 

 Personal and Advertising Injury       

 Products and Completed Operations       

 Fire Liability - also known as Tenants Liability 

 Medical Payments to Others        

         

All PID Landscapers/other Artisan Contractors must provide the following:  

1. Contractor should provide PID/City a Certificate of Insurance. 

2. Contractor’s Insurance certificate shows $1,000,000 each of general, 

automobile, and employer’s liability. 

3. The Contractor’s certificate should name the City of Grand Prairie as 

additional insured on general and automobile liability and include a waiver 

of subrogation clause naming the City of Grand Prairie on all types of 

coverage.  

4. Contractor Exception:  If the contractor is a sole proprietor and does not 

have any employees, then employer’s liability insurance is not 

required.  However, the sole proprietor must complete the Employer 

Notice of No Coverage current form and provide a copy of the 

confirmation. 

      

b.    Property Coverage 

If a PID chooses not to exercise the City's TML coverage for Property, the PID 

MUST purchase Property Insurance that provides the following:   

    

   Property 

Coverage should be the replacement cost or the reconstruction cost of the 

PID property value.  The City’s PID Administrator will provide the dollar 

value amount of the PID assets to the PID.  

  

Best Rating: A or better 

 

c.    Optional Other Insurance Coverage 

Additional recommended coverage for PIDs include the following: 

 

D&O   Cyber Liab.     

Min Per Occ $1,000,000  $1,000,000 

Aggregate $2,000,000  $2,000,000 

Deductible $10,000 or less $10,000 or less 

Best Rating A or better  A or better    

        

d.    General Conditions Required for All PID Insurance 

1. The City Council waives the contract requirement for PID Insurance. 

2. However, the City does require the following for any PID Insurance 

Policy to be paid by the City: 

a. The City must be an Additional Named Insured on all PID 

Insurance policies 

20

Item 4.



11 

b. The PID must provide the City with a certificate of insurance for 

all PID Insurance policies  

c. The PID must provide a copy of the PID Insurance policy to the 

City, once an underwriter issues a policy.  

d. The PID must provide the City with an invoice for the PID 

Insurance Policy 

 

8. Security:  If any PID hires additional security, the security service must provide 

proof of adequate insurance, or the PID may hire off-duty police officers.  If any PID 

hires additional security, the Police Department will be notified prior to engaging the 

security service. 

 

C. City and City Staff Responsibilities: 

 

1. Collections:  The city will collect current and delinquent PID assessments.  Current 

collection costs will be reimbursed from PID assessments.  In the case of a PID 

dissolution, PID assessments will continue until any and all debt obligations of the 

PID are paid in full. 

 

2. Public Notices:  The city will coordinate annual PID roll review and distribution of 

public notices and communications for the annual public hearing to adopt the 

assessment roll and rate, budget, and service plan and to appoint the advisory board. 

 

3. Expenditures:  The city will review PID expenditures and process payments. 

 

4. Reporting:  The city will account for each PID’s assets, revenues, and expenses 

separately and reports will be provided to the PID advisory boards regularly.  PID 

records are open to the public. 

 

5. Contracts:  The PID advisory board shall pursue annual contracts for maintenance, 

repair, and construction services where possible.   

 

 The PID advisory board will negotiate contracts. 

 Contracts will be approved by the City Manager, except contracts in excess of the 

dollar threshold at which the City Manager may award City contracts require City 

Council approval. 

 

The PID advisory board must ensure that its contractors provide appropriate liability 

and other insurance.  All contracts will be reviewed and approved by the City Legal 

department.  Day-to-day responsibilities may be provided by contract management 

paid for from PID assessments. 

 

6. Transfer:  To those PIDs that assume responsibility for maintaining arterial and 

thoroughfare rights-of-way and medians within their areas, the city will pay an 

amount each year equivalent to the cost of maintaining public medians and rights-of-

way at the standard level provided to the taxpayers generally.  The city payment shall 

be based on an average per mile or acre maintenance cost calculated as the total linear 

miles or actual acreage of medians and rights-of-way to be maintained in the city 

21

Item 4.



12 

divided into the city’s total right-of-way/median maintenance budget.  The payments 

to the PIDs shall be calculated annually for inclusion in the city and PID budgets. 

 

7. Support:  The city will provide support to the PID boards as needed and will orient 

new PID advisory board members to the role and responsibilities of the PID as 

needed. 

 

8. PID Policy Updates:   

1. The Finance and Government Committee will consider any proposed revisions to 

the PID policy.  

2. PID advisory boards will then be notified of the proposed revisions. 

3. The Finance and Government Committee will consider advisory boards’ 

comments. 

4. The City Council will conduct a hearing to approve the policy. 

 

D. City Council Responsibilities: 

 

PID boards serve advisory functions, and all final decisions are made by the governing 

body of the PID, the City Council.  The City Council approves the annual budget, 5-year 

plan, assessment rate and roll, and contracts in excess of the dollar threshold at which the 

City Manager may award City contracts.
4
 

 

V.  CITY LIABILITY:   

 

A. The PIDs and  PID  advisory board, performing the tasks of the PID that are authorized or 

mandated by the City, are authorized by the City to perform those tasks, and to the extent 

possible, are afforded the appropriate rights and protections of other City volunteers if 

they act strictly in accordance with city policies and procedures.  PID advisory board 

members must obtain the advice of experts and have projects approved by City staff 

before construction begins.  City staff will determine whether additional approvals by the 

Development Committee and/or City Council are also required. 

  

 B. A PID proposing to install any sign or structure in a median must have City Council 

approval before any costs are incurred, and the following agreement applies:   

 

 The PID will assume responsibility for third party liability for any and all claims or suits 

for damage to any persons or property, including that property purchased, installed, 

operated, and maintained by the PID, arising out of or in connection with, directly or 

indirectly, the construction, maintenance, occupancy, use, existence or location of said 

uses granted hereunder, whether or not caused, in whole or in part, by alleged negligence 

of officers, agents, servants employees, contractors, subcontractors, licensees, or invitees 

of the PID.  The PID maintains rights, at the option of the PID, to repair, replace, or to 

remove, any property installed, operated, and maintained by the PID.  The PID will 

assume responsibility for any and all claims or suits for personal injury, including death, 

to any and all persons, of whatsoever kind or character, arising out of or in connection 

                                                 
4
 On October 16, 2007, the dollar threshold at which the City Manager may award contracts increased to 

$50,000. 

22

Item 4.



13 

with, directly or indirectly, the construction, maintenance, occupancy, use, existence or 

location of said uses granted hereunder, whether or not caused, in whole or in part, by 

alleged negligence of officers, agents, servants employees, contractors, subcontractors, 

licensees or invitees of the PID.  The PID will assume responsibility for any and all 

injury or property damage arising out of or in connection with any and all acts or 

omissions of the PID, its officers, agents, servants, employees, contractors, 

subcontractors, licensees, invitees, or trespassers. 

 

 The PID agrees to obtain insurance satisfying insurance requirements specified herein by 

either a) providing to the City sufficient funds as required by the City through its PID 

Administrator to enable the City to arrange, purchase, and maintain insurance on behalf 

of the PIDs; or b) to furnish City with a Certificate of Insurance, naming City as 

certificate holder, as proof that it has secured and paid for any or all required insurance 

policies not obtained under provision “a)”.  The PID understands and agrees that the 

City’s insurance amount requirements may be revised upward at City’s option and that 

the PID shall so revise such amount requirements immediately following notice to the 

PID of such requirement.  Such insurance policy shall be occurrence based and shall 

provide that it cannot be canceled or amended without at least ten (10) days prior written 

notice to the PID Administrator of the City of Grand Prairie.  Proof of insurance shall be 

provided to the City’s PID Administrator upon the City’s request. 

 

 The PID agrees, binds and obligates itself, its successors and assigns, to maintain and 

keep in force such insurance at all times during the term of this agreement. 

 

 

 I have read and understand this policy. 

 

 

Signature        Date    

23

Item 4.



14 

Exhibit A 
 

 

http://www.gptx.org/city-government/city-departments/planning-development/building-

inspections:  

 

 

 

  

24

Item 4.

http://www.gptx.org/city-government/city-departments/planning-development/building-inspections
http://www.gptx.org/city-government/city-departments/planning-development/building-inspections


15 

 

 

 

   

25

Item 4.



16 

 

CITY OF GRAND PRAIRIE 

PUBLIC IMPROVEMENT DISTRICT POLICY 

AS ADOPTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL ON JULY 17, 2018 
 

 

 

I have read and understand this policy. 

 

 

 

Signature        Date     

 

   

 

Printed Name 

 

 

 

(Please sign, date, and return this page to PID Administrator.) 

 
 

26

Item 4.


	Top
	Item 1.	Approval of Minutes of the March 9, 2021 City Council Development meeting
	CCDC template
	2021-03-09 CCDC minutes

	Item 2.	2021-04-13 CCDC Text Amendment Carports
	2021-04-13 CCDC Text Amendment Carports

	Item 3.	2021-04-13 CCDC Text Amendment Convenience Store
	2021-04-13 CCDC Text Amendment Convenience Store

	Item 4.	2021-04-13 CCDC Text Amendment PID
	2021-04-13 CCDC Text Amendment PID
	PIDPolicyApproved71718

	Bottom

